# Renewables Intermittency: Operational Limits and Implications for Long-Term Energy System Models

Erik Delarue and Jennifer Morris



Report No. 277 March 2015 The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change combines cutting-edge scientific research with independent policy analysis to provide a solid foundation for the public and private decisions needed to mitigate and adapt to unavoidable global environmental changes. Being data-driven, the Program uses extensive Earth system and economic data and models to produce quantitative analysis and predictions of the risks of climate change and the challenges of limiting human influence on the environment—essential knowledge for the international dialogue toward a global response to climate change.

To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established MIT research centers: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers—along with collaborators from the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole and short- and long-term visitors—provide the united vision needed to solve global challenges.

At the heart of much of the Program's work lies MIT's Integrated Global System Model. Through this integrated model, the Program seeks to: discover new interactions among natural and human climate system components; objectively assess uncertainty in economic and climate projections; critically and quantitatively analyze environmental management and policy proposals; understand complex connections among the many forces that will shape our future; and improve methods to model, monitor and verify greenhouse gas emissions and climatic impacts.

This reprint is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of global environment and energy challenges, thereby contributing to informed debate about climate change and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives.

Ronald G. Prinn and John M. Reilly, *Program Co-Directors* 

## For more information, contact the Program office:

MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

#### **Postal Address:**

Massachusetts Institute of Technology 77 Massachusetts Avenue, E19-411 Cambridge, MA 02139 (USA)

**Location:** Building E19, Room 411 400 Main Street, Cambridge

**Access:** Tel: (617) 253-7492 Fax: (617) 253-9845 Email: *globalchange@mit.edu* Website: *http://globalchange.mit.edu/* 

# Renewables Intermittency: Operational Limits and Implications for Long-Term Energy System Models

Erik Delarue<sup>\*†</sup> and Jennifer Morris<sup>‡</sup>

#### Abstract

In several regions of the world, the share of intermittent renewables (such as wind and solar PV) in electricity generation is rapidly increasing. The current share of these renewable energy sources (RES) can still more or less be handled by existing systems and flexibility, benefiting from remaining excess capacity of dispatchable (backup) generation and links to other grids that can balance the intermittency. However, often higher levels of intermittent RES are envisaged for the future, posing significant challenges on system operation and planning. In assessing possible energy futures, long-term energy system models are typically used. The representation of RES in such models needs careful attention, as intermittent RES come with a number of specific characteristics, making them different from conventional dispatchable generation. This paper focuses on technical implications related to systems trying to achieve high shares of renewable electricity. The relevance of demand and RES generation profiles are demonstrated. After some threshold, a sharp decreasing relationship between installed RES capacity and marginal contribution in terms of generation is identified; therefore, even with perfect backup, a technical limit exists on achievable RES shares. The impact of RES on net demand peak reduction is also addressed. In the absence of system flexibility, substantial backup is required to ensure reliable electricity provision. The role of different flexibility instruments is explored and is found to be significant. Reflections are provided on options to include these aspects in long-term energy system models.

#### Contents

| 1. INTRODUCTION  |    |
|--|----|
| 2. LONG-TERM ENERGY SYSTEM MODELS                                | 2  |
| 2.1 Top-Down Economic Models                                     | 2  |
| 2.2 Bottom-up Engineering Cost Models                            | 4  |
| 3. WHAT MAKES RES DIFFERENT?                                     | 4  |
| 3.1 RES Characteristics  | 5  |
| 3.2 Economic and Technical Implications                          | 6  |
| 3.2.1 Economic Implications                                      | 6  |
| 3.2.2 Technical Implications                                     |    |
| 3.3 System Options to Deal with RES                              | 8  |
| 4. IMPLICATIONS OF HIGH RES SHARE FOR ELECTRICITY GENERATION     | 9  |
| 4.1 System Set-up  | 9  |
| 4.2 Impact of RES Curtailment on RES Shares                      | 11 |
| 4.3 Reduction of Residual Demand Peak                            | 14 |
| 4.4 Impact of Flexibility Options to Enhance RES Integration     | 16 |
| 4.4.1 Storage  | 16 |
| 4.4.2 Demand Response  | 19 |
| 4.4.3 Electric Network   | 20 |
| 4.4.4 Flexibility Combination                                    | 21 |
| 5. INCLUDING RES IN LONG-TERM INVESTMENT MODELING                | 25 |
| 5.1 Current Representation of RES in Long-term Investment Models | 25 |
| 5.2 Key Insights for High RES Modeling                           | 27 |
| 6. CONCLUSIONS   | 28 |
| 7. REFERENCES  | 29 |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> University of Leuven (KU Leuven) Energy Institute, TME branch (Applied Mechanics and Energy Conversion), Leuven, Belgium. During the preparation of this paper, E. Delarue was a visitor at the Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, MA, USA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Corresponding author (Email: erik.delarue@mech.kuleuven.be).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, MA, USA.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

The share of renewable energy sources (RES) has been increasing drastically in recent years in various power systems across the globe. Also towards the future, the amount of RES is projected to grow further. Economic and technical models are often deployed to optimize the overall transition of energy systems, and inform policy makers and other stakeholders. A wide set of models exist, all with specific capabilities and characteristics. In long-term energy system models which consider investment decisions, two general model types can be distinguished: 1) top-down economic models and 2) bottom-up engineering cost models. Top-down models represent microeconomic principles, but often lack technological detail, such as physical engineering constraints. On the other hand, bottom-up models are rich in technological detail, but lack economic details and feedbacks from other sectors. The aim of this paper is to address the implications of the specific generation pattern of intermittent RES, focusing on systems aiming for high shares of RES generation. Lessons are drawn on how these implications can be accounted for in top-down economic models.

This paper starts with a brief description of the main features of top-down and bottom up long-term energy system models. The next section details why RES are different from conventional generation sources. Focus then turns on systems with high shares of RES and corresponding implications. An operational model is developed and used in this regard. Finally, the representation of RES in long-term models is discussed, and integration of key features (as identified from the modeling exercise) in this framework is discussed. The final section concludes.



Figure 1. Computable General Equilibrium circular flow (Source: Paltsev et al., 2005).

## 2. LONG-TERM ENERGY SYSTEM MODELS

#### **2.1 Top-Down Economic Models**

Top-down models represent economy-wide relationships, can measure social welfare, and are suitable for simulating a wide variety of policies and their impacts. Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) models are a primary type of top-down economic model. CGE models represent the circular flow of goods and services in the economy (**Figure 1**). Consumers

(households) supply capital and labor services to the producing sectors, which in turn supply goods and services to consumers. The models also represent the reverse flow of payments that corresponds to the flow of goods and services: households receive payments from the producing sectors for the labor and capital services they provide, and in turn use that income to pay producers for the goods and services they consume. CGE models track all of these transactions within and across multiple sectors as well as among different regions. Supply, demand, and prices are determined endogenously by all sectors being in equilibrium and all markets clearing.

CGE models focused on energy and environmental policy exist at various levels of economic aggregation. At a high level of aggregation is the Dynamic Integrated model of Climate and the Economy (DICE) (Nordhaus, 1992), and its extensions such as RICE (Nordhaus and Yang, 1996), ENTICE (Popp, 2004), and ENTICE-BR (Popp, 2006). These macroeconomic models are built upon the neoclassical Ramsey optimal growth framework, in which growth is driven by capital accumulation and economic equilibrium is reached when the utility function is optimized inter-temporally. These models are highly aggregated, often representing the economy with a single sector, or very few, and production of a single final good. Details about the productive inputs (e.g., capital, labor, and energy) are also limited.

Other economic models follow a more disaggregated, multi-sector economic framework and are constructed from input-output data for the economy. These models are particularly useful for studying the economy-wide impacts of policies as well as sector-specific decisions. Examples are the MIT Economic Projection and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005), the EPA's Applied Dynamic Analysis of the Global Economy (ADAGE) model (Ross, 2007), Purdue University's Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) Model (Hertel, 1997), and Charles River Associates' Multi-region National (MRN) model (Smith, 2007).

Overall, CGE models are very powerful tools for assessing the economy-wide impacts of policies because they capture feedbacks throughout the economy. For this reason, it is a particularly appropriate tool to study the impacts of electricity sector strategies and policies. Changes in the electricity sector affect other sectors throughout the economy, and a CGE model can capture those effects. For example, if a policy causes electricity prices to increase, the prices of goods produced using electricity can also increase, and consumers may have less money to spend in other sectors. Electricity may also become important to the transportation sector through plug-in (hybrid) electric vehicles, or affect the agricultural sector by using biomass for generation and competing for land resources. The key point is that a CGE model captures all of these ripple and feedback effects throughout an economy and can therefore provide an accurate estimate of the full economy-wide cost of a policy or strategy.

While focusing on economic details of market flows, CGE models often make simplifications when it comes to technical detail. Common simplifications are to aggregate sectors, include a subset of representative technologies, and make assumptions about the general impact of details that are not explicitly represented. In the electricity sector, CGE models often lack the full suite of technology options as well as operational constraints such as ramping or transmission congestion. Such details are only implicitly included in the relative costs of the represented technologies.

#### 2.2 Bottom-up Engineering Cost Models

Bottom-up engineering cost models use engineering data and principles to represent detailed technical characteristics. With such a high level of technical detail, keeping these models tractable requires a direct cost accounting framework or a partial-equilibrium perspective. A partial-equilibrium model represents one or several sectors in great detail, but does not capture interactions between these sectors and the rest of the economy. As a result, supply, demand, and prices are all exogenous inputs to these types of models. The structure and solution approach of these models varies considerably. Most use a linear-programming or mixed-integer programming optimization framework. Some of the most well-known optimization models for electricity and environmental policy analysis are the MARKAL/TIMES model (Loulou *et al.*, 2004), the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's REEDS (Regional Energy Deployment System) model (Short *et al.*, 2011), the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) MESSAGE model (Messner, 1997), and the EPA's Integrated Planning Model (IPM) (US EPA, 2010). These models are specifically designed to study the energy and/or electricity sector. They capture multiple regions, time periods, and technologies (typically 20 or more electricity generation technology types).

Bottom-up models typically seek to identify the least-cost method of operating and/or expanding electricity generation technologies in order to meet demand. Engineering and operational constraints are often included, such as access to and costs of transmission, the availability and quality of renewable resources, ancillary service requirements and their costs, and physical limitations of operating different types of power plants (Short *et al.*, 2011). When only considering system operation (not investment), dedicated highly detailed models exist. These models operate on a power plant basis, with time resolutions of 1 hour or even 15 minutes (so-called 'Unit Commitment' models fall within this class of models). The detail in bottom-up models allows for the explicit and more realistic consideration of how different technologies within the system interact. However, bottom-up models lack an economy-wide framework and therefore cannot provide measures of economy-wide consumption or policy costs.

Both top-down and bottom-up models must be able to represent high levels of RES. The following sections explore the implications of high RES systems that are used to inform modeling approaches, focusing on long-term economic models.

## **3. WHAT MAKES RES DIFFERENT?**

Several forms of renewables have specific characteristics, making them different from conventional generation. For instance wind and solar photovoltaics (PV) are classified as intermittent renewables<sup>1</sup>. This means they have a variable profile (which at best can only be controlled downward) and they are to some extent unpredictable. These and several other characteristics (discussed below) pose important implications on representing these RES in long-term models. First, RES characteristics are discussed; second, the economic and technical implications are addressed; and third, possible flexibility options are presented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the remainder of this paper, the notation "Renewables" (or "RES") refers to intermittent RES.

#### **3.1 RES Characteristics**

Intermittent RES come with a number of specific characteristics. In this brief discussion, we largely follow the assessment as provided by the IEA (2014).

First, intermittent RES typically have a zero marginal cost. As they do not consume fuel, they generate at zero cost; hence, this has implications for electricity market prices. These prices are lowered during moments when RES are generating (i.e., the so-called merit order effect). This way, the average price is lowered, and also the price profile is adapted, in line with the resulting residual load profile.

Second, intermittent RES face a variable electricity generation profile. They generate according to meteorological conditions. Control of the output is not possible in the upward direction (unless it is knowingly operated below its possible output), and at best only downwards (so-called curtailment, i.e., not making use of possible generation). This variability can be quite substantial, with significant changes over relatively short periods. Relevant time scales to consider are changes from 15 minutes up to days or weeks. In addition to fast changes, consistent periods of either high or low (zero) output have an important impact on power system operation and planning. An example of the variability of wind and solar PV generation is shown in **Figure 2**, for normalized measured Belgian data from a two-week period in 2013.



Figure 2. Illustration of wind and solar PV variability. Normalized hourly measured data for a two-week period selection of the year 2013.

Third, intermittent RES face uncertainty on their output. In contrast to dispatchable generation, which can be precisely controlled, the output of RES needs to be forecasted, and significant errors can occur. To ensure a reliable system operation, reserves must be present in the system to deal with forecast errors.

Fourth, RES are constrained by location. The RES resource (e.g., wind and sun) needs to be harvested where it occurs—unlike conventional fuels, it cannot be transported. Optimal locations for RES are typically remote areas, such as desserts for sun, and off-shore locations for wind. In such cases, specific network expansions might be required to connect such locations to existing grid infrastructure.

A fifth characteristic is that RES are modular, meaning their unit size is much smaller compared to conventional plants. Wind turbines come in ranges of 1–7 megawatts (MW), while a single solar PV panel is typically a few kilowatts (kW). This compares to conventional plants of several hundreds of MW. For an equal amount of installed capacity (not yet speaking of electricity generation), a vast amount of RES units is required. These RES might also be connected to the distribution grid (rather than to the transmission grid as is the case for conventional generation plants), and pose new challenges in this regard.

A sixth and final element is that RES can be termed non-synchronous. Conventional power plants are typically coupled to the transmission grid with large synchronous generators. This way, a direct electro-mechanical link is provided in the system: the generators are rotating at a speed equivalent to the electricity system's frequency. As such, kinetic inertia is provided, contributing to system stability. RES on the other hand are typically connected through power electronics to the grid, not having this synchronously rotating generator. These power electronics can simulate such system inertia. However, transmission system operators typically require a minimum share of instantaneous electricity generation originating from conventional (synchronous) power plants, for system stability reasons (possibly complemented by reasons related to voltage stability issues) (Eirgrid, 2013). As an example, in Germany, the minimum share of instantaneous conventional generation is being set at about 20% (IEA, 2014).

#### **3.2 Economic and Technical Implications**

Given the characteristics of intermittent RES as discussed above, these RES have an impact on the overall operation of the electricity system. This subsection elaborates briefly on the economic and technical implications. For a full overview, including the regulatory perspective, refer to Perez-Arriaga and Batlle (2012).

#### 3.2.1 Economic Implications

The costs of wind and especially solar PV have come down significantly over the past years. In the recent past, these forms of RES typically could enjoy subsidies in a wide range of countries. For most of these installations, this RES subsidy is to continue for another 10–20 years. For new installations, however, most countries have now moved away from (substantial) subsidies.

Given the intermittency of RES, it is difficult to use the cost notion of "Levelized Cost of Electricity - LCOE", typically used for conventional generation (Joskow, 2011). When RES generate electricity, they lower the price of electricity at those specific moments (given their zero marginal cost generation), and where renewable penetration has been aggressive prices can fall to zero or even can become negative. Thus, in absence of subsidies, or mandated feed-in tariffs

that pay a fixed price for intermittent power regardless of the demand, the average value of renewable generation will fall as capacity expands, and at some point the value will fall below the cost of further capacity additions. After this point, additional RES would no longer be competitive, as the electricity price would have come down to a level too low to recover investment costs (Hirth, 2013).

The integration of RES in the electric power system also causes additional system costs. First, as the level of uncertainty is being increased, additional RES require additional reserves in the system, which come at certain cost. Second, on a longer time frame, considering a power system's adequacy (i.e., ensuring sufficient investments/capacity to cover the load), RES cannot account for the same level of firm dispatchable capacity as conventional power plants do. Additional capacity might be required, often referred to as back-up capacity. A third cost aspect relates to network costs, occurring both on a transmission level (e.g., to connect remote locations such as off-shore wind farms), and on a distribution level, where reinforcements might be required to deal with high, bidirectional flows (e.g. those that result from high solar PV penetration).

## 3.2.2 Technical Implications

From a technical perspective, implications regarding RES can be considered on the generation and the network side (both transmission and distribution). On the generation side, a balance between instantaneous load and generation needs being ensured. The variability and unpredictability of RES pose additional challenges here. Also the possible required minimum level of conventional generation needs being considered. Regarding the networks, grid stability (voltage control, reactive power) needs being safeguarded. As mentioned earlier, the fact that RES face locational restrictions might create a need for transmission grid expansion. As far as modularity is concerned, the distribution grid in particular might need reinforcements.

In the remainder of this paper, focus will be on the *technical implications* of RES deployment for the *electricity generation* system. Elements related to the overall economics, or grid-related aspects are clearly as relevant, and parallels can often be drawn. The scope is restricted this way to allow for a more in-depth analysis.

Regarding the technical challenges of RES for the electricity generation system, a further sub-division can be made.

- 1. The first challenge is ensuring reliable system operation—balancing load and supply at all times. This relates to dealing with potentially steeper ramps in the residual load profile, and with the higher levels of uncertainty. A vast amount of academic research in the field of power system engineering is being devoted to this area.
- The second challenge relates to systems aiming at high shares of RES (often 80% or more). To achieve a high share of RES in terms of electricity generation, the level of installed capacity needs being significant, given the limited load (capacity) factors of RES (20%-40% for wind; 10-20% for solar PV). Furthermore, given a certain original load profile, this implies that instantaneous RES generation will exceed

demand at certain moments. When this generation needs to be curtailed (in absence of sufficient system flexibility), this has implications on the relationship between installed RES capacity and the actual achieved share of RES generation (and clearly also on the economics of RES).

3. The third challenge concerns the level of reduction of the residual demand peak. Current systems typically still have an existing conventional power plant fleet large enough to ensure generation can meet peak demand. However, when in the future the electricity generation system can no longer rely on such sufficiently high levels of depreciated capacity, new investments will be required in power plants facing low load factors, necessary to cover net-demand peaks when RES are generating little or nothing. This relates to the so-called back-up issue.

In the remainder of this paper, the focus is on items 2 and 3 as listed above, and on the representation of RES in long-term models. Possible upper limits of RES "absorption" related to achieving certain shares of RES will be focused upon, together with the conventional system requirements for a secure operation. The opportunities of different flexibility options will be discussed in this regard.

#### **3.3 System Options to Deal with RES**

A number of flexibility mechanisms exist to deal with RES intermittency issues: dispatchable generation, curtailment, grid extensions, storage, and demand side integration. Clearly, not all of these flexibility options are equivalent or even directly comparable.

Conventional dispatchable generation is required to meet part of the electricity demand (i.e., the part not being covered by RES generation). When this generation is flexible in dynamic terms, it is also well suited to deal with a potentially highly variable net load profile. But even without large fluctuations, generation capacity is required for basic electricity generation.

Curtailment can be seen as sort of a counterpart of flexible dispatchable generation. When instantaneous RES generation exceeds original demand (and no other flexibilities are present or usable at the time), curtailment of RES is required to keep the supply-demand balance. Furthermore, also in terms of balancing, curtailment might be needed to mitigate high fluctuations in the net load profile.

Generation and curtailment each provide flexibility in a single direction: generation can only be used "upward", producing additional electricity; it cannot help when RES generation exceeds demand. Curtailment on the other hand can only provide "downward" control; it cannot help when there is insufficient RES generation to meet the load.

Considering the electric network as flexibility instrument is not straightforward. Networks are required both in horizontal (geographic) dimension, connecting different regions, and in a vertical dimension, connecting large generators and consumers at high voltage (i.e., the transmission grid) with household consumers and possibly local generation at low voltage levels (i.e., the distribution grid). Expanding and reinforcing the grid is therefore beneficial to create geographic aggregation in the horizontal dimension, thereby smoothing out variability and

uncertainty to some extent. Additionally, a strong vertical grid that is sufficiently controllable (smart grid) allows capture of the full potential of local flexibility (generation, demand and storage).

In this regard, a sufficiently strong network is essentially a precondition for the other flexibility instruments. A stronger network enhances system reliability and allows for an overall more efficient system operation, by allowing the system to make use of the most efficient generation and flexibility options.

Apart from flexibility reasons, newly deployed RES may also simply require new networks in order to be connected to the system. Locations with good resources for RES might be at rather remote locations, away from current systems and load centers. Examples are off-shore locations for wind, or deserts for large scale solar PV.

The two final flexibility means—storage and demand response—may provide flexibility in two directions: they can absorb excess electricity, or can generate (or consume less in case of demand response). Electricity storage is currently still dominated by pumped hydro storage. This means of storage has ratings comparable to conventional power plants, and can typically (when purely considering the storage part) store an amount of energy at rated capacity of an order of magnitude of several hours. As storage is also quite flexible in terms of changing its output, or moving from charging to discharging mode or vice versa, it is also well suited to deal with steep variations and unpredictability. Future storage options might be provided by compressed air energy storage, batteries, conversion to other energy carriers (e.g. power-to-gas), etc., all having their specific characteristics.

At the demand side, demand can be influenced by real-time prices or other incentives. Demand can be changed in absolute terms (increase or decrease, given certain elasticity), or can be shifted in time. The latter option, demand shift, is to some extent similar to storage. The time span that can be bridged is, however, limited. The use of an application or process can typically be shifted for at most several hours. Examples include for instance the operation of deferrable loads such as washing machines, dryers or freezers; devices related to heating, ventilation and air-conditioning; and in the future the charging of an electric vehicle.

# 4. IMPLICATIONS OF HIGH RES SHARE FOR ELECTRICITY GENERATION

This section explores high RES system effects, especially the impact of possible curtailment and net-demand peak reduction. First, the general principles are discussed. Second, an assessment of the different flexibility options is provided.

### 4.1 System Set-up

Considering the variability of RES, a crucial distinction to be made is between electricity generation (energy, aggregated over time) and instantaneous power delivery (bounded by installed capacity). When a certain share of electricity generation from RES is aimed for, a substantial level of installed capacity is required, given the relatively low load factors. When moving to systems with very high shares of RES, interactions with the original demand pattern

become more relevant. With increasing levels of installed RES capacity, RES generation will exceed original load levels more frequently, possibly creating the need for curtailment.

For the analysis, Belgian data is used as a case study. The Belgian time series for demand, and wind and solar PV generation are taken for the year 2013, all on an hourly basis. Data originates from the Belgian Transmission System Operator (TSO) Elia (2014). Wind makes up 60% of the considered RES profile, while solar PV takes up the other 40% (in energy terms). In the following analysis, the RES profile will be scaled to attain desired levels of RES.

The presented case study is to a very large extent generalizable. Clearly, specific quantitative results obtained in the analysis are dependent on the input data used (in this case, the 2013 time series for Belgium). However, further analysis has demonstrated that when using time series for RES (wind and solar PV) and load for other European countries, results turn out to be very similar (both qualitatively and quantitatively). This relates both to the similar behavioral patterns determining the electricity load, and similar geographic conditions determining wind and solar PV generation. When considering regions with structurally different load and RES patterns, results might differ to some extent quantitatively, but the order of magnitudes and qualitative effects (as will be described further) remain valid.

At first, the analysis is based on the time series of load and RES with a focus on excess generation and net-demand peak reduction. A flexible generation system is considered, complemented in a later stage of the analysis (Section 4.4) with flexibility instruments (storage, demand response and grids). A linear optimization model is set up and used in this regard.

**Figure 3** presents the original average daily demand (in blue), together with the residual demand<sup>2</sup> when the amount of RES is increased to a share of 40% (in green) and 80% (in red), respectively, assuming all energy generated from RES can be captured or absorbed in the system. As can be seen from the figure, however, the average daily demand turns negative at several points in time. When these RES profiles are expressed on an hourly time frame, the 40% RES also faces negative values. As an example, a two week period of hourly data is presented in **Figure 4** (corresponding to the same period as considered in Figure 2). Negative demand means that there is more RES than can be used and thus curtailment, storage, or an upward demand response is necessary. In addition, both Figure 3 and Figure 4 illustrate that there are moments of very little RES generation—when the residual demand is (nearly) equal to the original demand. Those occurrences indicate the need for back-up generation, utilizing storage or downward demand response.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the remainder of this paper, residual or net demand is used to refer to the original demand minus the (possible) generation from RES.



Figure 3. Average net daily demand for different shares of RES.



Figure 4. Illustration of detailed hourly net-demand profile for different shares of RES.

# 4.2 Impact of RES Curtailment on RES Shares

If the considered system would have insufficient flexibility to deal with negative net demand, and all RES generation that exceeds demand would need to be curtailed, the actual achieved RES share would be clearly lower than the targeted level on an annual basis.

**Figure 5** presents the relationship between installed RES capacity and actually "absorbed" RES generation, if curtailment is the only way to deal with negative net demand (solid line). This contrasts to the linear relationship between installed capacity and RES generation, if all this RES generation (including the generation exceeding demand) could be absorbed by the system.

From this figure, it is clear that at a certain level of installed RES capacity, the marginal contribution of the RES to generation decreases sharply. Additional installed RES capacity will mostly be generating when there is already sufficient RES to cover demand, and hence will be (at least partly) curtailed. Put differently, for increasing the desired shares of RES generation, from certain point, a more than proportional level of installed RES capacity will be required. On Figure 5, the level of curtailment can be read as the horizontal difference (i.e., for a given level of installed RES capacity) between the full and the dashed line. For the considered data, curtailment starts playing a role at RES shares of about 40%.

In Figure 5, a combination of wind and solar PV was considered and used as RES. **Figure 6** presents the relationship between actual RES share and installed capacity when only considering wind, and **Figure 7** presents the relationship when only considering solar PV. The outcome for only wind (Figure 6) is similar to the mix of wind and solar PV considered in Figure 5. When only considering solar PV (Figure 7), the outcome differs significantly. Because of the sharp, diurnal pattern of solar PV, at a certain point PV generation covers most of the load during daytime. Adding more PV capacity to the system will not lead to much generation when needed, leading to the very sharp rise in the considered curve. In this case, it is difficult to achieve RES shares of about 30–40% solely with solar PV.



Figure 5. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity. In this setting, flexible generation and curtailment are possible (no other flexibility instruments).



**Figure 6.** Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity. RES in this case only consists of wind. In this setting, flexible generation and curtailment are possible (no other flexibility instruments).



**Figure 7.** Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity. RES in this case only consists of solar PV. In this setting, flexible generation and curtailment are possible (no other flexibility instruments).

The analysis so far has provided results assuming a perfectly flexible generation system in place—a residual demand between zero and the maximum load could be covered with conventional generation without limitations. However, as discussed in Section 3.1, TSOs might impose certain minimum levels of conventional (synchronous) generation, for reasons of system stability (or additionally, for voltage control). Such a minimum level could also reflect a certain share of incompressible base load generation, such as inflexible nuclear or large steam plants

(e.g., coal or lignite fired). **Figure 8** presents results for the absorbable share of RES generation in the system for different levels of an imposed minimum generation by conventional sources. Clearly, the higher this minimum level, the more difficult it is to attain high shares of RES. The impact of this constraint is quite significant, as can be seen from the figure. For example, at a minimum required level of conventional generation of 30%, curtailment of RES starts at shares of about 30%, and rises quite sharply; RES shares of about 50% already require substantial curtailment (i.e., almost half of the possible RES generation would be curtailed).



**Figure 8.** Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of a required minimum level of conventional generation. Case with no flexibility instruments in place (except curtailment).

### 4.3 Reduction of Residual Demand Peak

The evolutions of the net load for different targeted RES shares can also be presented on a well-known load duration curve (on such a graph, all 8760 hourly net-load values are sorted). This is presented in **Figure 9** for different targeted RES shares. As can be seen, at a RES level of 40% minimum hourly net demand starts to go below zero.

This figure relates to the previous discussion as follows. When one considers RES generation only in energy terms, making abstraction of when RES are generating, the linear relationship between installed RES capacity and RES energy share holds (i.e., the dashed line in Figure 5). This corresponds to the indicated targeted RES share in Figure 9. The negative parts of the presented curves in this case would still contribute to generation (e.g., with massive perfect storage). For the 100% RES target line, this means the positive 'surface' on the graph equals the negative part. The negative part in this case would somehow (e.g., through this perfect storage) compensate for the positive part. If, however, the negative part of the curve would be curtailed, the actual share of RES achieved would be lower. The surface of the positive part of the curve then needs to be compared to the reference curve (zero RES).

Figure 9 also provides information on how RES might reduce the net demand peak, as the highest net demand in the various considered cases is depicted as the very first point of the graphs. **Figure 10** provides a more detailed view on this part of Figure 9. In this case, as can be seen, the net peak demand is only reduced in a very limited way by RES. This means there are still moments of high load when there is little or no RES generation. This of course depends on the specifics of the data considered. In Western European countries, highest load typically occurs on a winter evening. Hence, there is no solar PV generation, and it might happen that wind generation at one of these high demand periods is also low or zero.



Figure 9. Load duration based curves, for different levels of RES deployment. The indicated targeted RES share is the share when all RES generation contributes to meeting load (even when exceeding demand). The real share is the RES share achieved when RES generation exceeding demand would be curtailed.



Figure 10. Detail of highest net load levels, of load duration based curves for different levels of RES deployment.

## 4.4 Impact of Flexibility Options to Enhance RES Integration

In this section, the impact of different flexibility instruments is analyzed. Both the share of RES generation that can be absorbed, as well as the net-demand peak reduction will be assessed. A Linear Programming (LP) optimization model is set-up and used to incorporate the different flexibility options.

## 4.4.1 Storage

Different levels of storage are considered, i.e., in terms of capacities of the charge and discharge maximum power (assumed to be equal). The maximum storage reservoir in energy terms is assumed to be reached when charging for 5 hours at nominal capacity. The storage efficiency is assumed to be 75%.

To first illustrate the functioning of storage, an example is presented in **Figure 11** of the net load in a consecutive two-week period (same as the one illustrated in Figure 4), before and after the correction by the storage unit. The example is for the 80% targeted RES share and 4 GW of storage (referring to the charge or discharge capacity). As can be seen, the storage is able to mitigate the negative load to some extent. Especially in the second half of the considered period, the need for curtailment is often eliminated. In the first half, however, the net-load after storage correction still reaches significant negative values, implying curtailment.

**Figure 12** presents the relationship between the actual achieved share of RES generation and the installed capacity of RES. The case of zero storage corresponds to Figure 5. Clearly, storage being present in the system allows for absorbing more RES generation and requires less curtailment. However, it still remains difficult to achieve very high shares of RES at the considered levels of storage.



Figure 11. Example of use of storage, for the 80% targeted RES share, for a two week period.



Figure 12. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of storage.

It is interesting to extend the analysis for storage, applying it to the cases where RES consists exclusively of either wind or solar PV. Figure 13 and Figure 14 present results for these cases, respectively. The impact of storage for solar PV is significant, and in line with the impact for the combination of RES. When RES consists exclusively of wind, the picture is remarkably different-the impact of storage is more limited here. This relates to the time constants of wind power variability, which can be of an order of magnitude of days or even weeks (e.g., large wind fronts passing by, or consecutive periods of very little wind). The implemented energy storage has a capacity of 5 hours at full capacity, meaning this is too low to have a great impact for wind. Next, the impact of storage on the reduction of the net demand peak is considered. Panel (a) of Figure 15 presents the net demand peak for different levels of actually achieved RES generation shares (corresponding to Figure 12) and different levels of storage. The net demand peak reduces as the share of RES increases. The reference in absence of storage corresponds to the results discussed earlier (Figure 9 and Figure 10). The deployment of storage clearly reduces the net demand peak. In absence of RES, the peak can be reduced (though the marginal reduction for increasing levels of storage rapidly decreases). With RES, its impact on the reduction of the peak is dependent on the level of storage present in the system. The higher the level of storage, the greater the impact of RES will be. This is also illustrated in panel (b) of the figure. This plot presents the net demand peak reduction as the share of the installed capacity of RES. Hence, it corresponds to some extent to what in the literature is referred to as capacity credit (Wilton et al., 2014). In this case, the case with no RES and no storage is taken as reference (the peak reduction should be seen as a result when RES enter the system in combination with storage). With storage, relatively high values are attained at low levels of RES share. However, as the share of RES increases, this indicator decreases quite sharply. This means additional RES are not able to actually further reduce the net demand peak in a proportional way.



Figure 13. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of storage. RES in this case only consists of wind.



Figure 14. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of storage. RES in this case only consists of solar PV.



**Figure 15.** Implications of storage on net demand peak reduction. The LHS Panel (a) presents the absolute reduction of the net demand peak for different levels of actually achieved RES share and storage deployment. The RHS Panel (b) presents the relative net demand peak reduction compared to the installed RES capacity, again for different levels of RES and storage.

#### 4.4.2 Demand Response

Similar to the implementation and discussion of storage, now demand response is considered as a means of flexibility. Focus is on so-called demand shifting. A certain fraction of the demand is allowed to be shifted to adjacent hours. The maximum amount shiftable to other hours is in this case assumed to decrease linearly with the distance from the considered hour. For example, if 15% of the demand is shiftable up to 3 h, this implies that 15% is shiftable to the hour right before or after the considered hour, 10% is shiftable to 2 hours before or after, and 5% is shiftable to 3 hours before or after. The aggregate of the demand shifted to these hours is still limited to 15%. **Table 1** presents an illustration of the limits on demand shifted in this case.

Table 1. Illustration of share of demand being shiftable to certain hours.

| h-3 | h-2 | h-1 | h | h+1 | h+2 | h+3 |
|-----|-----|-----|---|-----|-----|-----|
| 5%  | 10% | 15% | 0 | 15% | 10% | 5%  |

This way of representing demand response aims to represent possibilities at the demand side in a rather general way. Other modeling options would be to explicitly model flexibilities of appliances or processes allowing for time shifting. The aim here is merely to introduce increasing levels of demand flexibility and to identify the impacts on achievable RES shares and net demand peak reduction.

The impact of the considered way of demand response (at different rates) on the absorption of RES generation is presented in **Figure 16**. Similar to storage, demand response facilitates the integration of RES, leading to higher achievable RES shares. However, the level to which this occurs is relatively limited. Even at very flexible demand response (30% shiftable, up to 6 hours), the reduction of required curtailment is rather small.



Figure 16. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of demand response (DR).



Figure 17. Implications of demand response on net demand peak reduction. The LHS Panel (a) presents the absolute reduction of the net demand peak for different levels of actually achieved RES share and demand response. The RHS Panel (b) presents the relative net demand peak reduction compared to the installed RES capacity, again for different levels of RES and demand response.

The implications of demand response on net demand peak reduction are presented in **Figure 17**. Similar to storage, demand response reduces the net demand peak, also in absence of RES. The impact of RES is again greater when demand response is possible in the system (panel (a)). The peak reduction expressed as share of installed RES capacity is highly dependent on the level of demand response considered being combined to the RES deployment, and sharply decreases with the level of RES installed (panel (b)).

## 4.4.3 Electric Network

As discussed in Section 3.3, interconnections can facilitate RES integration. There is, however, no clear way to generalize the impact of such interconnections. When for instance considering solar PV, the correlation between a country's generation and that of a neighboring country is likely to be quite high<sup>3</sup> (e.g., correlation between hourly values of Belgium and Germany was 0.9 for the year 2013). The correlation for wind might be lower, but still significantly positive. Furthermore, there still might be moments of very low or even zero wind generation, across areas as large as Europe (Cosseron *et al.*, 2013; IEA, 2014). Variability can be smoothed out to some extent by geographic aggregation. The resulting profile, however, still remains volatile, and in regions such as Europe, cross-border interconnections are at levels far from achieving an actual copper plate representation.

In this analysis, the flexibility of cross-border interconnections is represented as follows. A first limit is set based on the actual instantaneous generation of RES that can be imported or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The correlation between generation patterns of solar PV will always be relatively high and positive, given the diurnal pattern.

exported. It is assumed that the exchange is limited to a fixed share of this instantaneous level. This limit represents the fact that RES generation tends to be (highly) correlated across borders. A second limit (general absolute upper bound) is assigned to the cross-border interconnections. This represents the physical limits of the country's cross-border interconnection capacity. Third, on a yearly basis, the net imported amount of RES electricity is set to be equal to the net exported amount of RES electricity.

Simulations have been carried out where the RES import and export are limited to 25% of the instantaneous RES generation (first limit as discussed above), for various levels of absolute interconnection capacity ranging from 0 up to 6 GW (second limit). Results are presented in **Figure 18**. At low RES shares, connections are first limited by the absolute value, while at higher RES shares, the relative exchange limitation (25%) becomes binding. Also here, under the assumptions of the analysis, networks may allow reaching higher RES shares, but the overall impact tends to be limited.



Figure 18. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, at different levels of cross-border interconnection.

Limiting the tradable amount of RES relative to the instantaneous RES share (in this case 25%), implies that the net demand peak reduction is not really changed compared to the reference case (no flexibilities). After all, the highest net-load occurs during moments of low RES generation. At these moments, the import of RES-based electricity is limited, proportional to this low instantaneous RES generation.

### 4.4.4 Flexibility Combination

The flexibility options as discussed earlier can be combined. In line with the assumptions for each of the flexibility options as described before, **Figure 19** presents results for the implementation of 3 GW of storage, 15% demand response and 3 GW of cross-border capacity: results are presented for implementing each of these flexibilities individually, and then all three

combined. The results for the case of a combination of 6 GW of storage, 30% demand response and 6 GW exchange is also presented. Combinations of such (relatively high) levels of flexibility clearly benefit the level of RES share that can be attained and curtailment levels are significantly reduced. Limitations on the final achievable RES shares (given the considered levels of flexibility) still remain.

Figure 19 has been constructed with no minimum limit on the share on conventional instantaneous generation. When a 20% minimum share is imposed (reference is also shown in Figure 8), the considered flexibility options and combinations improve RES integration as displayed in **Figure 20**. Also here, flexibility combinations reduce curtailment significantly, but clear limits on the achievable RES share remain. Comparing Figure 19 to Figure 20, a minimum level of conventional generation significantly impacts curtailment and achievable RES shares, even in presence of flexibility instruments.

The net demand peak levels for the considered flexibility options and combinations are presented in **Figure 21** (panel (a)). This figure is set up for the case with no requirement on minimum conventional generation levels. The similar figure for the 20% minimum case is, however, pretty similar—the net-demand peak levels are identical, only the shares of actually achieved RES shares are at higher levels (as is clear from Figure 19 and Figure 20). The greater the level of flexibility, the higher the impact RES have on the net demand peak. From panel (b) it can be seen that when RES are being introduced together with significant levels of flexibility, the impact can be quite significant. This relative peak reduction still rapidly decreases as RES shares increase.

As a further illustration, the net load duration curves for the 60% targeted RES share are presented in **Figure 22** for the various flexibilities considered and their combinations (in the case with no minimum conventional generation requirement). The net-load presented is the original load minus the generation from renewables, and after correction by the flexibility instruments. The flexibility options aim to avoid curtailment (i.e., negative net load on the figure) as much as possible. All curves (except for the curve with no flexibility) have several moments of zero net load. The combination of 3 GW of storage, 15% demand response and 3 GW of exchange almost completely abandon the need for curtailment. In the case of the combination of the highest flexibilities, no curtailment is required (no negative net load on the figure). The figure also shows to what extent the highest net load can be reduced by these flexibilities (intersection with y-axis).



**Figure 19.** Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, for different flexibility instruments and their combinations.



Figure 20. Relationship between actual (achievable) RES share (in energy terms) and installed RES capacity, for different flexibility instruments and their combinations. A minimum required level of conventional generation of 20% is imposed.



Figure 21. Implications of different flexibility options and their combinations on net demand peak reduction. The LHS Panel (a) presents the absolute reduction of the net demand peak for different levels of actually achieved RES share and flexibility options. The RHS Panel (b) presents the relative net demand peak reduction compared to the installed RES capacity, again for different levels of RES and flexibility options.



Figure 22. Load duration curves for 60% targeted RES share, for various combinations of flexibility options.

#### 5. INCLUDING RES IN LONG-TERM INVESTMENT MODELING

In this section, the representation of RES in energy system models is discussed, with specific focus on the operational implications of RES as identified in the previous section.

#### 5.1 Current Representation of RES in Long-term Investment Models

Bottom-up models have a higher technical detail compared to top-down models. The adequate inclusion of RES in such bottom-up models however can still face shortcomings. Next to the time steps considered for investment (e.g., every 5 years), these models also consider the operation of the system. In this regard, one year can be represented by a number of time slices. RES can be modeled with a specific load factor or with a specific profile for the given time slices. The number of time slices varies across models and specific settings. It can be as low as 12 (to represent a seasonal and day-night variation), up to 8760 (all hours of the year). To represent RES variability in an appropriate manner, sufficient time slices are required, together with an actual variable RES profile. When profiles are averaged over time, the implications of RES variability are largely lost. Models can further take into account a so-called peaking equation, to ensure sufficient generation capacity. In this equation, the overall installed capacity (taking into account the capacity credit) needs to be higher than the yearly peak demand increased with a certain safety margin.

These models have an operational dimension, and as such make a distinction between installed capacity and RES generation. To capture the RES effects as described in this paper, it is essential to take into account a sufficient number of time slices and preserve the fluctuating (i.e., not averaged out) RES profiles (Poncelet *et al.*, 2014).

In the remainder of this section, the incorporation of RES in top-down models, and specifically CGE models, is discussed. Top-down models have a macro-economic focus, and correspondingly typically lower technical detail. Different technologies can be considered, but no distinction is made between installed capacity and electricity generation. This means a fixed load (capacity) factor for each technology is assumed, and no variable RES profiles are taken into account. Appropriately setting up and using CGE models for analyses with significant shares of RES is a clear challenge (Tapia-Ahumada *et al.*, 2014).

There are several different approaches to representing RES in CGE models. Here we focus on the MIT EPPA model to discuss various approaches. The latest version of the EPPA model (EPPA6) represents 18 regions, 14 sectors, and 10 advanced backstop electricity technologies. The cost of advanced electricity technologies, including renewables, is determined by the cost markup, which is the cost relative to conventional electricity in the base year of the model. The markup is determined by a levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) calculation that uses base year values for capital costs, fixed and variable operation and maintenance costs, plant lifetime, capacity factors, fuel costs, etc. Over time and under policy, the cost of the advanced technologies relative to conventional generation will change endogenously. Advanced technologies will only enter the market when economically competitive, or explicitly forced by policy.

One approach is to model renewables as imperfect substitutes to other generation. In the EPPA model, at lower penetration levels renewables are an imperfect substitute for other

electricity generation technologies because of the variability of resources (see Paltsev *et al.*, 2005). It is assumed these are located at sites with access to the best quality resources, at locations most easily integrated into the grid, and at levels where variable resources can be accommodated without significant investment in storage or backup. The elasticity of substitution between renewables and electricity generated by other technologies creates a gradually increasing cost of production as the share of renewables increases in the generation mix. Thus, further expansion as a share of overall generation of electricity comes at greater cost (due to locations far from demand and the grid and the need for transmission as well as storage or backup). This formulation allows gradual penetration only as the prices of other generation technologies continue to rise, and tends to limit the share of electricity that can be generated by wind and solar.

Another approach is to model renewables with fixed backup requirements. In the EPPA model, large-scale renewables are represented with two renewable backstop technologies: large scale wind with biomass backup, and large scale wind with natural gas backup (see Morris *et al.*, 2010). Unlike regular wind or solar, large-scale wind with biomass or gas backup is modeled as a perfect substitute for other electricity because the backup makes up for intermittency. The elasticity of substitution does not create a gradually increasing cost of production as the share of these two technologies increases in the generation mix. The additional costs for large-scale wind (backup or storage<sup>4</sup> and transmission) are incorporated into the costs of the new technologies. For wind with backup, it is assumed that for every kW installed capacity of wind there is one kW installed capacity of backup (either biomass or gas).<sup>5</sup> The backup allows the combined plant to be fully reliable because whenever the wind is not blowing demand can still be met through the backup.

Building on the fixed backup requirement approach, another approach is to model flexibility requirements for renewables. One version of the EPPA model represents renewables as requiring increasing "flexibility" as the share of renewables grows (see Karkatsouli, 2013). This flexibility can only be attained from conventional generation sources. One can think of this as a credit trading system—conventional generation produces "flexibility credits" that can be sold to renewable generators, which require the credits to produce electricity. This approach essentially requires increasing levels of backup capacity as the share of renewable generation increases, as opposed to a fixed backup requirement.

A final approach to include RES in a top-down model is to link it with a bottom-up model, to create a "hybrid" model. There are a few examples of such models that link high level, aggregated macroeconomic models (similar to DICE) to bottom-up engineering models, such as the Model

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A storage system is an alternative to backup capacity. However, compressed air, pumped hydro, batteries, and other technologies are generally more expensive at this time, making backup capacity more likely.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Studies have shown that there are times when the wind is still for hours or even days at a time over expansive regions (Cosseron *et al.*, 2013)—see Figure 2. While spreading out wind sites reduces the number of hours with low or zero wind, there is still an effective limit imposed by intermittency. Regardless of how much wind capacity is built, there are still periods when the wind does not blow and backup capacity must be utilized to meet the load. This may create the need for an installed capacity of backup generation of 1 kW for every kW of installed capacity of wind. Even though these backup plants would rarely operate, they would need to be capable of replacing all wind generation if necessary. In the EPPA model it is assumed that the backup is only needed 7% of the time (for the rare occurrences when there is no wind).

for Evaluating the Regional and Global Effects of GHG reduction policies (MERGE) (Manne *et al.*, 1995) and the World Induced Technical Change Hybrid Model (WITCH) (Bosetti *et al.*, 2006). In addition, the U.S. version of the EPPA model, USREP (Caron and Rausch, 2013), which is highly disaggregated with numerous electricity technologies represented, has been linked to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's ReEDS (Regional Energy Deployment System) model (Short *et al.*, 2011; Rausch and Mowers, 2012). Tapia-Ahumada *et al.* (2014) have linked the USREP model to the bottom-up electricity model EleMod. These hybrid models attempt to take advantage of the details and constraints represented in the engineering models as well as the economic forces represented in the economic models. Linking the two can be quite difficult.

# 5.2 Key Insights for High RES Modeling

The analysis provided in this paper offers important insights for high RES modeling. CGE models have mostly focused on the problems created by low instantaneous RES generation in systems with high levels of RES. Modeling RES as requiring backup generation is a solution. Given that there are times of almost zero wind over large expanses of Europe (Cosseron *et al.*, 2013; IEA, 2014), requiring 1-for-1 backup may be an appropriate model assumption, in absence of other flexibility options. As has been demonstrated, explicit mechanisms for demand response, storage, and grid exchange could also be added to CGE models to handle low instantaneous demand. Such additions would increase the cost of a system with high RES.

Less focus has been given to high instantaneous RES generation in CGE models. A key insight from this analysis is that the need to curtail wind generation has a significant impact on the generation system. Even perfectly backed-up renewable generation will face the costs of curtailment. This analysis shows that, due to needed curtailment, the required RES capacity increases non-linearly with the desired share of RES generation, and that there are effective technical limits to the share of RES attainable. Even if one was willing to pay to build enormous amounts of capacity, given the shapes of the curves (e.g., Figure 5), it is unlikely that intermittent RES generation could reach much beyond 80% of total generation. This relationship between required capacity and RES generation share could be represented in a CGE model. One approach would be to increase the level of inputs required to produce one unit of renewable output as the share of renewable output increases. In the EPPA model, this could be done by changing the renewable markup cost over time as a function of output. Increased required capacity as RES shares increase essentially decreases the capacity factor. So the capacity factor could be made a function of the share of RES and put into the LCOE calculation to therefore make the markup a function of the share of RES. This relationship could then be implemented in a model like EPPA in order to better represent the dynamics created by high RES systems in cases of high instantaneous RES generation. This analysis also shows how demand response, storage, and grid exchange impact the relationship between renewable capacity and generation. Those mechanisms explicitly represented in a CGE model would add further richness to the dynamics of high RES systems.

### **6. CONCLUSIONS**

Intermittent RES come with a number of specific characteristics, having an impact on the economic and technical operation of power systems. In this paper, focus is on the impact of the variable RES generation profile, and especially on implications towards the actual share of RES generation that can be achieved and on the reduction in the net-demand peak.

At low RES penetration, the relationship between installed capacity and generation is linear, meaning the share of RES generation rises proportionally with the installed capacity. However, when the RES capacity increases further, instantaneous RES generation might start exceeding the original demand at certain moments in time. If the system has no proper flexibility instruments in place, this excess RES generation needs to be curtailed. The amount of RES curtailment rises very sharply from a certain level of installed capacity, effectively imposing an upper bound on 'absorbable' RES generation shares. Additionally, when minimum requirements are set on the share of conventional generation for reasons of system stability, the level of required curtailment increases even further. Flexibility instruments such as storage, demand response and electric networks benefit the amount of RES generation that can be absorbed, but limits (and hence, curtailment requirements) remain.

RES also have an impact on the peak in net demand that occurs in the system. However, even in cases with relatively high amounts of installed RES capacities, the reduction in net-demand peak turns out to be very limited. Specific moments in time with a high original load and low instantaneous RES generation remain present. Flexibility options turn out to have a significant impact in this regard.

The observed effects of intermittent RES have important implications when including RES in energy system models. In bottom-up models, the RES implications as identified in this paper can be addressed by including an operational time dimension with a high enough resolution, and preservation of original (i.e., not averaged-out) load and RES profiles. Regarding top-down models, such as CGE, RES intermittency might need to be addressed more specifically. In essence, variability-related effects are difficult to account for, as these models do not consider an operational time dimension. There typically is a fixed relationship between installed capacity and electricity generated over the year (i.e., a fixed load factor). As such, systems are being optimized using technologies with a fixed LCOE. However, when dealing with intermittent RES, the actual variable RES generation profile triggers specific effects. The analysis of this paper has highlighted the need for curtailment and the limited impact on net-demand peak reduction. In addition, increasing amounts of RES capacity clearly impacts the shape of the load duration curve, and correspondingly impacts the load factor of different technologies and their LCOEs. All these effects are further influenced by the level of available flexibility options such as storage, demand response and electric networks.

When introducing intermittent RES in top-down models, the need for backup requirement and sufficient operational flexibility requirements have to some extent been addressed in the existing literature. To account for excess instantaneous RES generation and required curtailment, future adaptations to top-down models might be required. An important step is making certain

parameters dependent on the amount of RES being deployed. Especially addressing the load factor in this regard seems useful (note that it would be also useful to adapt the load factor for conventional technologies, depending on the penetration of RES). By making this load factor dependent on the amount of RES installed, the LCOE and the markup cost are influenced. This way, the decreasing contribution in energy terms at increasing shares of installed RES capacity can be represented to some extent.

The availability and impact of potential flexibility instruments also needs better representation, as it has a significant impact. We finally wish to emphasize that even with perfect one-to-one backup, there are limitations on the share of electricity generation that can be achieved from RES. This curtailment requirement is typically overlooked in current modeling.

# 7. REFERENCES

- Bosetti, V., C. Carraro, M. Galeotti, E. Massetti, and M. Tavoni, 2006: WITCH: A World Induced Technical Change Hybrid Model. *The Energy Journal, Special Issue on Hybrid Modeling of Energy-Environment Policies: Reconciling Bottom-up and Top-down*, 13–38.
- Caron, J., and S. Rausch, 2013: A Global General Equilibrium Model with U.S. State-Level Detail for Trade and Environmental Policy Analysis. MIT-JPSPGC *Technical Note 13*, February (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC\_TechNote13.pdf).
- Cosseron, A., U.B. Gunturu, and C.A. Schlosser, 2013: Characterization of the wind power resource in Europe and its intermittency. *Energy Procedia*, 40: 58–66.
- EirGrid, 2013: Operational Constraints Update, Ireland (http://www.eirgrid.com/media/OperationalConstraintsUpdate v1.8 August2013.pdf).
- Hertel, T., 1997: *Global Trade Analysis: Modeling and Applications*, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 424 p.
- Hirth, L., 2013: The market value of variable renewables: The effect of solar wind power variability on their relative price. *Energy Economics*, 38: 218–236.
- IEA [International Energy Agency], 2014: *The Power of Transformation; Wind, Sun and the Economics of Flexible Power Systems*, OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 234p.
- Joskow, P., 2011: Comparing the Costs of Intermittent and Dispatchable Electricity Generating Technologies. *American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings*, 100: 238–241.
- Karkatsouli, I., 2013: *The role of wind generation in European power sector decarbonization: a general equilibrium analysis*. Master of Science Thesis in Technology and Policy, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, June.
- Loulou, R., G. Goldstein, and K. Noble, 2004: Documentation for the MARKAL Family of Models. Energy Technology Systems Analysis Programme (<u>http://www.etsap.org/tools.htm</u>).
- Manne, A.S., R. Mendelsohn, and R.G. Richels, 1995: MERGE: A Model for Evaluating Regional and Global Effects of GHG Reduction Policies. *Energy Policy*, 23(1): 17–34.
- Messner, S., 1997: Endogenized Technological Learning in an Energy Systems Model. *Journal* of Evolutionary Economics, 7(3): 291–313.

- Morris, J., J. Reilly, and S. Paltsev, 2010: Combining a Renewable Portfolio Standard with a Cap-and-Trade Policy: A General Equilibrium Analysis. MIT JPSPGC *Report 187*, July, 19p. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC Rpt187.pdf).
- Nordhaus, W.D., and Z. Yang, 1996: A Regional Dynamic General-Equilibrium Model of Alternative Climate-Change Strategies. *American Economic Review*, 86(4): 741–765.
- Nordhaus, W.D., 1992: The 'DICE' Model: Background and Structure of a Dynamic Integrated Climate-Economy Model of the Economics of Global Warming. Yale University Cowles Foundation for Research in Economics *Discussion Paper 1009*, February, 133 p. (http://cowles.econ.yale.edu/P/cd/d10a/d1009.pdf).
- Paltsev, S., J. Reilly, H.D. Jacoby, R.S. Eckaus, J. McFarland, M. Sarofim, M. Asadoorian, and M. Babiker, 2005: The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4. MIT JPSPGC *Report 125*, August, 72 p. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC\_Rpt125.pdf).
- Perez-Arriaga, I.J., and C. Batlle, 2012: Impacts of intermittent renewables on electricity generation system operation. *Economics of Energy & Environmental Policy*, 1(2): 3–18.
- Poncelet, K., E. Delarue, W. D'haeseleer, J. Duerinck, and D. Six, 2014: The Importance of Integrating the Variability of Renewables in Long-Term Energy Planning Models. *IAEE European Conference*, Rome, Italy, 28–31 October, 17p.
- Popp, D., 2004: ENTICE: Endogenous Technological Change in the DICE Model of Global Warming. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 48(1): 742–768.
- Popp, D., 2006: ENTICE-BR: Backstop Technology in the ENTICE Model of Climate Change. Energy Economics, 28(2): 188–222.
- Rausch, S., and M. Mowers, 2012: Distributional and Efficiency Impacts of Clean and Renewable Energy Standards for Electricity. MIT JPSPGC *Report 225*, July, 46 p. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC\_Rpt225.pdf).
- Ross, M., 2007: Documentation of the Applied Dynamic Analysis of the Global Economy (ADAGE) Model. Research Triangle Institute *Working Paper 07\_02*, April, 103p. (http://www.rti.org/pubs/adage-model-doc\_ross\_apr07.pdf).
- Short, W., P. Sullivan, T. Mai, M. Mowers, C. Uriarte, N. Blair, D. Heimiller, and A. Martinez, 2011: Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS). National Renewable Energy Laboratory *Technical Report NREL/TP-6A20-46534*, December, 85 p. (http://www.nrel.gov/analysis/reeds/pdfs/reeds\_documentation.pdf).
- Smith, A.E., 2007: CRA International's MRN-NEEM Integrated Model for Analysis of US Greenhouse Gas Policies. Charles River Associates, Boston, MA.
- Tapia-Ahumada, K., C., Octaviano, S., Rausch, and I. Perez-Arriaga, 2014: Modeling Intermittent Renewable Energy: Can We Trust Top-Down Equilibrium Approaches? MIT CEEPR Working Paper, 2014-004, April, 43 p. (http://ceepr.mit.edu/working-papers/#2014).
- US EPA [Environmental Protection Agency], 2010: Documentation for EPA Base Case v.4.10 Using the Integrated Planning Model. EPA *Report #430R10010*, August, 22 p. (http://www.epa.gov/airmarkt/progsregs/epa-ipm/docs/v410/Chapter1.pdf).
- Wilton, E., E. Delarue, W. D'haeseleer, and W. van Sark, 2014: Reconsidering the capacity credit of wind power: Application of cumulative prospect theory. *Renewable Energy*, 68: 752–760.

# **REPORT SERIES of the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change**

FOR THE COMPLETE LIST OF JOINT PROGRAM REPORTS: http://globalchange.mit.edu/pubs/all-reports.php

- 237. Analyzing the Regional Impact of a Fossil Energy Cap in China. Zhang et al., January 2013
- 238. Market Cost of Renewable Jet Fuel Adoption in the United States. Winchester et al., January 2013
- 239. Analysis of U.S. Water Resources under Climate Change. Blanc et al., February 2013
- 240. Protection of Coastal Infrastructure under Rising Flood Risk. Lickley et al., March 2013
- 241. Consumption-Based Adjustment of China's Emissions-Intensity Targets: An Analysis of its Potential Economic Effects. Springmann et al., March 2013
- 242. The Energy and CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Impact of Renewable Energy Development in China. *Zhang et al.*, April 2013
- 243. Integrated Economic and Climate Projections for Impact Assessment. Paltsev et al., May 2013
- 244. A Framework for Modeling Uncertainty in Regional Climate Change. *Monier et al.*, May 2013
- 245. Climate Change Impacts on Extreme Events in the United States: An Uncertainty Analysis. Monier and Gao, May 2013
- 246. Probabilistic Projections of 21<sup>st</sup> Century Climate Change over Northern Eurasia. *Monier et al.*, July 2013
- 247. What GHG Concentration Targets are Reachable in this Century? Paltsev et al., July 2013
- 248. The Energy and Economic Impacts of Expanding International Emissions Trading. *Qi et al.,* August 2013
- 249. Limited Sectoral Trading between the EU ETS and China. Gavard et al., August 2013
- 250. The Association of Large-Scale Climate Variability and Teleconnections on Wind Resource over Europe and its Intermittency. Kriesche and Schlosser, September 2013
- 251. Regulatory Control of Vehicle and Power Plant Emissions: How Effective and at What Cost? Paltsev et al., October 2013
- 252. Synergy between Pollution and Carbon Emissions Control: Comparing China and the U.S. Nam et al., October 2013
- 253. An Analogue Approach to Identify Extreme Precipitation Events: Evaluation and Application to CMIP5 Climate Models in the United States. Gao et al. November 2013
- 254. The Future of Global Water Stress: An Integrated Assessment. Schlosser et al., January 2014
- **255. The Mercury Game:** *Evaluating a Negotiation Simulation that Teaches Students about Science–Policy Interactions. Stokes and Selin,* January 2014
- 256. The Potential Wind Power Resource in Australia: A New Perspective. Hallgren et al., February 2014
- **257. Equity and Emissions Trading in China.** *Zhang et al.,* February 2014

- 258. Characterization of the Wind Power Resource in Europe and its Intermittency. *Cosseron et al.*, March 2014
- 259. A Self-Consistent Method to Assess Air Quality Co-Benefits from US Climate Policies. Saari et al., April 2014
- 260. Electricity Generation and Emissions Reduction Decisions under Policy Uncertainty: A General Equilibrium Analysis. Morris et al., April 2014
- 261. An Integrated Assessment of China's Wind Energy Potential. *Zhang et al.*, April 2014
- 262. The China-in-Global Energy Model. Qi et al. May 2014
- **263. Markets versus Regulation:** *The Efficiency and Distributional Impacts of U.S. Climate Policy Proposals. Rausch and Karplus,* May 2014
- **264. Expectations for a New Climate Agreement.** Jacoby and Chen, August 2014
- 265. Coupling the High Complexity Land Surface Model ACASA to the Mesoscale Model WRF. Xu et al., August 2014
- 266. The CO₂ Content of Consumption Across US Regions: A Multi-Regional Input-Output (MRIO) Approach. Caron et al., August 2014
- **267.** Carbon emissions in China: How far can new efforts bend the curve? Zhang et al., October 2014
- 268. Characterization of the Solar Power Resource in Europe and Assessing Benefits of Co-Location with Wind Power Installations. *Bozonnat and Schlosser*, October 2014
- 269. A Framework for Analysis of the Uncertainty of Socioeconomic Growth and Climate Change on the Risk of Water Stress: a Case Study in Asia. Fant et al., November 2014
- 270. Interprovincial Migration and the Stringency of Energy Policy in China. Luo et al., November 2014
- **271. International Trade in Natural Gas: Golden Age of LNG?** Du and Paltsev, November 2014
- 272. Advanced Technologies in Energy-Economy Models for Climate Change Assessment. Morris et al., December 2014
- 273. The Contribution of Biomass to Emissions Mitigation under a Global Climate Policy. Winchester and Reilly, January 2015
- 274. Modeling regional transportation demand in China and the impacts of a national carbon constraint. *Kishimoto et al.*, January 2015.
- 275. The Impact of Advanced Biofuels on Aviation Emissions and Operations in the U.S. Winchester et al., February 2015
- 276. Specifying Parameters in Computable General Equilibrium Models using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods. *Koesler,* February 2015
- 277. Renewables Intermittency: Operational Limits and Implications for Long-Term Energy System Models. Delarue and Morris, March 2015